THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from the Administrative Law Court
Honorable S. Phillip Lenski, Administrative Law Judge

Case No. 2024-001471
ALC Docket No. 2024-ALJ-15-0002-AP

RECEIVED
MAR 05 2025
SC Court of Appeals

JOSEPH KELSEY, # 217218 APPELLANT,

v.

SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF
PROBATION, PAROLE, AND PARDON SERVICES RESPONDENT.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ALLISON FRANZ

ROSALIND MAJOR

Justice 360
900 Elmwood Ave., Suite 200
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 765-1044
allison@justice360sc.org
rosalind@justice360sc.org

JON OZMINT

The Ozmint Firm, LLC
PO Box 17554
Greenville, SC 29606
(803) 429-9331
jon@ozmint.com

JOHN H. BLUME

Cornell Law School

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether PPP and the Parole Board violated Joseph Kelsey's due process rights and acted in an arbitrary and capricious manner when the Board failed to consider the requisite statutory factors in its decision to deny Kelsey parole solely on the basis of the nature and circumstances of the offense, after paroling his judicially determined more culpable co-defendant.
2. Whether the Board's single-sentence, boilerplate statement that it considered the required factors of S.C. Code § 24-21-640 is sufficient to satisfy the due process guarantee of *Cooper v. S.C. Dep't of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs.* where the record demonstrates that the Board is not actually applying the factors to the facts of Kelsey's case.
3. Whether PPP and the Board violated Kelsey's due process and First Amendment rights and acted in an arbitrary and capricious manner by denying parole wholly or partly in retaliation for successful appeals of prior parole denials.
4. Whether PPP violated Kelsey's due process rights by refusing to disclose his parole file or allow him to correct false information in the file before it was sent to the Board.

INTRODUCTION

In 2019, the Administrative Law Court (ALC) determined that the Board’s decision to deny parole to Joseph Kelsey (on a vote of three to two in favor of parole) based solely on the nature of his offense after paroling his significantly more culpable co-defendant was “arbitrary and capricious decision-making . . . based on nothing but arbitrary caprice.” R. p. 15. The ALC further noted that the Board’s decision “effectively denies [Joe’s] eligibility for parole” and therefore was not a routine parole denial. R. p. 19. On the merits, the ALC found that the Board’s decision-making was “logically and legally absurd,” infected with “untrue assertions of fact and improper argument,” and that it had produced a “decision that [was] arbitrary and capricious.” R. pp. 16, 20.

Since Joe filed that first appeal, he has continued to improve his already remarkable prison record and further demonstrate his suitability for parole. Nevertheless, when he went up for parole in 2021 and 2023, he was again denied both times—in 2021 by a vote of six-to-one against parole and in 2023 by a unanimous vote. R. pp. 90, 91. The only fact that the Board could possibly have held against Joe to produce a less favorable vote for parole was that between his hearings, he appealed both his 2019 and 2021 denials and secured a ruling requiring more transparency from the agency from this Court. *Kelsey v. S.C. Dep’t of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs.*, 441 S.C. 373, 379, 893 S.E.2d 588, 591–92 (Ct. App. 2023) (holding that PPP must give parole-eligible inmates access to their parole files and an opportunity to correct any inaccurate information in their files before their parole hearings) (*cert. denied*, *Kelsey v. S.C. Dep’t of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs.*, 2024 S.C. LEXIS 36 (S.C., Mar. 5, 2024)). Thus, this Court should reverse the Board’s arbitrary, capricious, and retaliatory denial of parole and remand this case to the agency with an order that

the Board grant Joe the only relief that will not produce an unconstitutional decision: a grant of parole.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Joe was sentenced to life in prison for a murder that he participated in at the age of 16 in 1994, along with an older, more culpable codefendant, Geoffrey Payne. The Supreme Court of South Carolina has twice considered the facts of the offense and has held that the evidence “overwhelmingly prove[d]” that the victim died at Payne’s hands, either “by Payne strangling her to death, or by Payne lighting the fuse of [a] pipe bomb that exploded in her mouth.”¹ *Payne v. State*, 355 S.C. 642, 586 S.E.2d 857 (2003); *see also State v. Kelsey*, 331 S.C. 50, 502 S.E.2d 63 (1998). *And see generally* R. pp. 8–20 (noting Payne’s greater culpability). Payne, in other words, was indisputably the primary perpetrator of the murder. Nevertheless, Payne was paroled unanimously at his third parole hearing in 2019, after serving 24 years.

¹ The facts of the crime are set forth in greater detail in Joe’s Request for Reconsideration. R. pp. 71–79. However, a few crucial facts bear repeating. On July 10, 1994, a group of teenagers got together to hang out and drink beer at the house where Joe was temporarily staying, including Geoffrey Payne and Jamie Lee, neither of whom Joe knew well, and both of whom were older than Joe. Payne and Lee went to a nearby Texaco station where they found fifteen-year-old Melanie Richey, alone and limping. *State v. Kelsey*, 331 S.C. 50, 58–59, 502 S.E.2d 63, 67 (1998). They invited Melanie back to the house, where Payne “repeatedly tried to coax [Melanie] into having sexual intercourse with him. [She] refused Payne’s advances.” *Id.* Payne was frustrated—he told Lee “he was so mad he could kill [Melanie]”—so the two boys laced her drink with ecstasy. *Id.* During all this, Joe was listening to music by himself and was not involved with Payne, Lee, or Melanie until Payne and Lee invited him to come along to drive Melanie home around 3:30 AM. *Id.* Payne told Joe to bring some explosives the boys had made earlier in the day, which Joe “assumed Payne wanted to [use to] blow up mail boxes,” as the boys had been playing with them in the backyard earlier that day. *Kelsey*, 331 S.C. 50 at 59 n.1, 502 S.E.2d at 67. Unbeknownst to Joe, Payne also told Lee to bring “something to knock [Melanie] out with.” *Id.* at 59, 502 S.E.2d at 67.

As they were driving, Lee noticed Melanie’s foot had kicked the gear into neutral. *Id.* at 59-60, 502 S.E.2d at 67. He “turned around and saw that Payne had [Melanie] in a ‘strangle hold type position.’” *Id.* at 60, 502 S.E.2d at 68. He said nothing, but “[a] few minutes later, Lee heard ‘two quick, empty thud type sounds,’ *id.*, as Payne hit Melanie ‘twice on the head with a wrench,’ *Payne v. State*, 355 S.C. 642, 645, 586 S.E.2d 857, 859 (2003). Payne announced that Melanie was “knocked out,” *Kelsey*, 331 S.C. at 60, 502 S.E.2d at 68. Payne told Lee to pull over. *Payne*, 355 S.C. at 645-46, 586 S.E.2d at 859; *Kelsey*, 331 S.C. at 59, 502 S.E.2d at 67. Joe, who had CPR training, checked her pulse as soon as they got out of the car and was confident she was dead. *Kelsey*, 331 S.C. at 60, 502 S.E.2d at 68. Payne “had sexual intercourse” with her body. *Payne*, 355 S.C. at 645-46, 586 S.E.2d at 859. Afterwards, the boys carried Melanie’s body into the woods and Payne “instructed [Joe] to place a pipe bomb into [her] mouth.” *Kelsey*, 331 S.C. at 60, 502 S.E.2d at 68. Joe, afraid of Payne after watching him rape and kill Melanie, complied with Payne’s demand. “Payne then lit the fuse, and the two ran.” *See id.*

Subsequently, in November 2019, the Board denied Joe parole by a vote of three for parole and two to deny based solely on a single criterion relating to the nature and circumstances of the offense. R. p. 95. Joe appealed this parole denial to the ALC, where Judge Funderburk noted that “[t]he only significant differences between Payne and [Joe] derive from their respective roles in the crimes.” R. p. 15. The Board’s decision to “parole the individual who beat the victim with a wrench, choked the victim, raped her, and set off the pipe bomb in her mouth” while denying parole to Joe, “who did not beat, choke, or rape the victim,” was “arbitrary and capricious decision making . . . based on nothing but arbitrary caprice.” R. pp. 15, 20. Nevertheless, despite having identified “one decision that is arbitrary and capricious and another that was based on untrue assertions of fact and improper argument,” the ALC affirmed because, it reasoned, it lacked jurisdiction to remedy the Board’s constitutional violations. R. p. 20. Joe appealed that decision to this Court.

While that appeal was pending, Joe went up for his fourth parole hearing in November 2021. In the two years that passed from his third hearing to his fourth, Joe maintained a spotless institutional record, obtained a new college degree, started on a master’s degree, continued to volunteer additional hours of service to suicidal inmates, and received additional commendations from the Department of Corrections and its staff. Joe presented these positive developments to the Board, both in a written parole packet submitted three weeks in advance of his hearing and at the hearing itself. *See Audio Recordings of Parole Hearings for Joseph Kelsey (2021)*. Only one Board member asked Joe or his attorneys any questions. The other Board members’ silence suggested, at a minimum, that the materials that Joe submitted resolved any questions they might have had about his suitability for release.

At the close of the hearing, the Board again voted to deny Joe parole. Six Board members—including one who had voted *in favor of parole* in 2019—voted to deny. None of the Board members who voted against parole offered a basis on the record for their votes. In Joe’s denial letter, which he received nearly three months after his hearing, the Board again cited only factors relating to the nature and circumstances of his offense. R. p. 91. Joe filed a second appeal based on this denial. *Kelsey v. S.C. Dep’t of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs.*, No. 2022-000965 (S.C. Ct. App. 2022) (*Kelsey II*).

Between Joe’s fourth hearing and his fifth, in August 2023, this Court decided Joe’s appeal of his 2019 parole denial in his favor. Specifically, the Court ruled that parole-eligible inmates must be granted access to their parole files. *Kelsey v. S.C. Dep’t of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs.*, 441 S.C. 373, 893 S.E.2d 588 (2023).² At the parole hearing that is the subject of the instant case, in November 2023—which proceeded again without PPP turning over Joe’s file, despite the Court of Appeals’ ruling—Joe presented the Board once more with his impeccable institutional record and release plan. *See* R. pp. 98–191; Audio Recordings of Parole Hearings of Joseph Kelsey (2023). Since his 2021 hearing, Joe’s record has only improved: He has continued to pursue his master’s degree and volunteer thousands of hours to serve suicidal inmates, and was in the first class of only a handful of SCDC inmates certified as a Peer Support Counselor. By any measure, Joe again presented an even better record in 2023 than he had in 2021. Nonetheless, in a disturbing pattern, the Board voted unanimously to deny Joe parole, now with two Board members who had previously voted for parole voting against it in the face of Joe’s improved record. R. p. 90. Just as in 2021, none of the Board members offered a basis on the record for their votes. *See* Audio Recordings of Parole Hearings of Joseph Kelsey (2023). At the close of the hearing, the

² Rather than complying with the letter or spirit of the Court’s decision, PPP decided that it would provide parole files to inmates only minutes before their parole hearings, with all victim statements redacted.

Chairperson announced that Joe would be denied parole based on factors one and three of the Board’s grounds for rejection—the nature and seriousness of the offense and the use of a deadly weapon in the offense. *Id.* In its boilerplate denial letter, which was received on November 30, 2023, PPP cited an additional reason for Joe’s parole denial: “nature and seriousness of current offense”; “use of deadly weapon in this or previous offense”; and “criminal record indicates poor community adjustment”—once again, all factors related to his offense, the only thing Joe can never change. R. p. 81. Joe filed a request for reconsideration, which PPP denied. R. p. 80. This appeal follows.³

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court has jurisdiction to review decisions by the ALC. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(A)(l). A parole denial resulting from improper or unlawful process falls within the ALC’s jurisdiction. *See Cooper v. S.C. Dep’t of Probation, Parole & Pardon Services*, 377 S.C. 489, 493–94, 661 S.E.2d 106, 108–09. This Court’s review of the controlling legal principles is *de novo*, and the Court has the power to reverse the ALC if its decision is affected by an error of law. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B); *Gatewood v. S.C. Dep’t of Corr.*, 416 S.C. 304, 313, 785 S.E.2d 600, 605 (Ct. App. 2016). Specifically, this Court may “remand the case for further proceedings”

³ After this appeal was filed in the ALC, Joe received another parole hearing on April 24, 2024, the remedy ordered by the Court of Appeals in *Kelsey v. SCDPPPS* for PPP’s failure to disclose Joe’s parole file ahead of his 2019 hearing. As has been its standard practice since *Kelsey* was remanded, PPP refused to disclose the file to counsel until two days before Joe’s hearing and refused to allow Joe himself to see his file until approximately one hour before the hearing. Simultaneously, PPP required Joe to sign a form stating that PPP would not change anything in his file without “official records” before he could attend his parole hearing. Upon reviewing his file, Joe learned that PPP has been providing the Board, as PPP’s official statement of the facts of Joe’s case, with a false version of the facts of the offense that is conclusively refuted by a comprehensive SLED investigation report, sworn trial testimony by Jamie Lee, and detailed findings in two opinions of the South Carolina Supreme Court. While the source of this flagrantly false version of the case is unknown (and unstated in the parole file), it falsely portrays Joe as the primary perpetrator and completely flips the roles of Joe and Payne.

Since the file had already been provided to the Board two weeks before Joe’s parole hearing and was not provided to Joe until well after the false information was sent to the Board, Joe had no opportunity to correct the false information with “official records” as required by PPP, and subsequently was denied parole. The April 24, 2024 denial is currently the subject of an appeal to the Administrative Law Court. *Kelsey v. SCDPPPS*, No. 24-ALJ-15-0027.

or it may reverse or modify the ALC's decision if the appellant's "substantive rights have been prejudiced" as a result of: a "violation of constitutional or statutory provisions"; an agency's exercise of undelegated authority; "unlawful procedure"; any "other error of law"; "clearly erroneous" factual findings, in view of the whole record; or decision making that is "arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion." S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B).

ARGUMENT

I. The ALC erred in holding that it had "limited" authority to review Joe's parole denial.

a. The ALC erred in reviewing its 2020 determination that denying parole to Joe after paroling Payne was not a routine denial of parole.

The law-of-the-case doctrine "prohibits issues that have been decided in a prior appeal from being relitigated in the trial court in the same case." *Flexon v. PHC-Jasper, Inc.*, 413 S.C. 561, 571–72, 776 S.E.2d 397, 403 (Ct. App. 2015); *see also Huggins v. Winn-Dixie Greenville, Inc.*, 252 S.C. 353, 357, 166 S.E.2d 297, 299 (1969) ("It is well settled in this jurisdiction that a decision of [a] court on a former appeal is the law of the case."). Although this doctrine has been described as discretionary, "it should be disregarded only upon a showing of good cause for failure timely to request reconsideration of the original appellate decision, and only as a matter of grace rather than right." *Flexon*, 413 S.C. at 572 n.6, 776 S.E.2d at 403 n.6 (quoting 5 C.J.S., *Appeal and Error* § 991 (2007)). "The policy behind the law of the case is to 'promote the finality and efficiency of the judicial process by protecting against the agitation of settled issues.'" *Id.* at 573, 776 S.E.2d at 404 (quoting *Christianson v. Colt Indus. Operating Corp.*, 486 U.S. 800, 816 (1988) (cleaned up)). Thus, a court's resolution of a legal issue establishes the law of that case and "must be followed in all subsequent proceedings in the same case," unless "*the evidence on a subsequent*

trial was substantially different, controlling authority has since made a contrary decision of the law applicable to such issues, or the decision was clearly erroneous and would work a manifest injustice.” *Id.* (emphasis in original).

In this case, the ALC erred when it ignored the law of the case established in 2019 and held in 2023 that it lacked jurisdiction over issues and parties that the court had already found to be subject to its jurisdiction. In 2023, as in 2019, Joe challenged the Board’s decision-making process after he was denied parole solely on the basis of circumstances that he cannot change and after his legally and morally more culpable co-defendant had already been released. In *Kelsey I*, the ALC held that denial of parole to Joe based solely on circumstances that can never change “effectively denies [Joe’s] eligibility for parole” and because of that, the ALC held, it has subject-matter jurisdiction. R. p. 19. In other words, the ALC established the law of the case in 2019—it has jurisdiction to consider an appeal from Joe’s parole denial—and the ALC was prohibited from revisiting that decision in 2023 because PPP did not make the requisite “showing of good cause for failure timely to request reconsideration of the original appellate decision.” *Flexon*, 413 at 572 n.6, 776 S.E.2d at 403 n.6 (quoting 5 C.J.S., *Appeal and Error* § 991 (2007)).⁴

This is not a case where “the evidence [at the 2023 parole hearing] was substantially different, controlling authority has since made a contrary decision of the law applicable to such issues, or the decision [of the ALC in 2020] was clearly erroneous and would work a manifest injustice.” *Id.* at 573, 776 S.E.2d at 404 (cleaned up). Indeed, since 2019, nothing in Joe’s record has changed except that he has continued his education, he has continued to gain the respect and trust of employees of the Department of Corrections, and he is now older than Payne was at the

⁴ Even if the law of the case doctrine does not apply in this case, the ALC’s relitigation of subject-matter jurisdiction is barred by *res judicata* because the present appeal involves the same parties; the same subject matter; and a previous adjudication of the same issue in *Kelsey I*. See *Judy v. Judy*, 393 S.C. 160, 168, 712 S.E.2d 408, 412 (2011).

time of Payne’s release. Thus, the ALC erred in 2023 when it revisited the law of the case and held that it lacked subject-matter jurisdiction, creating a conflict within the ALC and undermining the twin goals of “finality and efficiency of the judicial process.” *Id.* at 573, 776 S.E.2d at 404.

b. The Board’s 2023 decision is not a routine denial of parole.

The ALC has jurisdiction over appeals from decisions by the Board that constitute a permanent denial of parole. *Furtick v. S.C. Dep’t of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs.*, 352 S.C. 594, 598, 576 S.E.2d 146, 149 (2003); *Sullivan v. S.C. Dep’t of Corrections*, 355 S.C. 437, 443 n.4, 586 S.E.2d 124, 124 n.4 (2003). Even if this Court decides that Joe has not been permanently denied parole, the South Carolina Supreme Court has recognized that the Board’s decision need not rise to the level of a permanent parole denial to implicate a sufficient liberty interest to trigger the requirements of due process: “The use of the word *permanent* in *Sullivan* and *Furtick* does not mean that there must be a permanent denial of parole eligibility before a sufficient liberty interest is involved. It is merely one of the ways that a sufficient liberty interest may be involved.” *Cooper*, 377 S.C. at 498, 661 S.E.2d at 111 (quoting *Steele v. Benjamin*, 362 S.C. 66, 72, 606 S.E.2d 499, 502 (Ct. App. 2004)) (emphasis in original).

A parole denial implicates a sufficient liberty interest to trigger the requirements of due process when the Board fails to “adhere to statutory requirements in rendering a decision.” *Id.* at 499, 661 S.E.2d at 112. Specifically, the Board violates a putative parolee’s right to due process when it fails to “consider” and “giv[e] credence” to the statutory factors set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-640. *Id.* at 499, 661 S.E.2d at 111. § 24-21-640 provides, in relevant part:

The board must carefully consider the record of the prisoner before, during, and after imprisonment, and no such prisoner may be paroled until it appears to the satisfaction of the board: that the prisoner has shown a disposition to reform; that in the future he will probably obey the law and lead a correct life; that by his conduct he has merited a lessening of the rigors of his imprisonment; that the

interest of society will not be impaired thereby; and that suitable employment has been secured for him.

S.C. Code § 24-21-640.

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