STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from the Administrative Law Court
The Honorable S. Phillip Lenski, Administrative Law Judge
Docket Number 24-ALJ-15-0002-AP

Appellate Case No.: 2024-001471

RECEIVED
FEB 24 2025
SC Court of Appeals

JOSEPH KELSEY, #217218, APPELLANT

v.

S.C. DEPARTMENT OF PROBATION, PAROLE AND
PARDON SERVICES, RESPONDENT

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**Matthew C. Buchanan, SC Bar #73740
General Counsel**

**South Carolina Department of Probation,
Parole and Pardon Services
P.O. Box 207
Columbia, South Carolina 20202
(803) 734-9220**

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENTS

- I. **The ALC properly determined that it does not have jurisdiction over the discretionary decision-making authority of the Parole Board.**
 - a. **The previous ALC order was in error and should not be considered the law of the case.**

Appellant argues that the Oct. 7, 2020 order by the Honorable Administrative Law Judge H.W. Funderburk, Jr., denying the appeal from Appellant's 2019 parole hearing in which he opined that the Board's decision to deny parole to Appellant was arbitrary and capricious is “the law of the case.”

As an initial matter, the order was the subject of this Court's recent decision in *Kelsey v. South Carolina Dep't of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services*, 441 S.C. 373, 893 S.E.2d 588.

In that opinion, this Court remanded the case to allow Appellant review his parole file before the hearing, and did not address the remainder of the issues on appeal. Importantly, Respondent SCDPPPS had argued that the ALC committed error by examining the Board's decision-making in violation of S. C. Code § 1-23-600(D), which prohibits an administrative law judge from hearing an appeal from the Board involving the denial of parole of an otherwise parole-eligible inmate. Respondent renews that argument here; quite simply, the ALC does not have the authority to rule upon the Board's decisions as they relate to the denial or granting of parole. "Undoubtedly, the Parole Board is the sole authority with respect to decisions regarding the grant or denial of parole." *Cooper v. S.C. Dep't of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services*, 377 S.C. 489, 499, 661 S.E.2d 106, 111 (2008).

As Appellant concedes, the law-of-the-case doctrine is discretionary. "Under the law-of-the-case doctrine, a party is precluded from relitigating, after an appeal, matters that were either not raised on appeal, but should have been, or raised on appeal, but expressly rejected by the appellate court." *Judy v. Martin*, 381 S.C. 455, 458, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153 (2009) (citations omitted). In this case, the issue of Judge Funderburk's erroneous opinion on the Board's decision-making was not ruled upon in *Kelsey*. Therefore, the law-of-the-case doctrine is not appropriate where the issue was not ruled upon in a prior appeal.

Respondent further submits that were this Court to accept Appellant's argument and adopt the October 7, 2020, law-of-the-case, the ALC's error in not dismissing the appeal of the routine denial of parole will be perpetuated. The ALC erred by considering Appellant to be deserving of parole (or his co-defendant to be unworthy) when it was simply not its place to do so. To carry that opinion forward would substitute the ALC's judgment for that of the Board's, when South Carolina law unequivocally places the Parole Board as the sole authority over parole decisions.

Respectfully, this Court should not apply the doctrine as argued by Appellant in this case.

b. The Board's 2023 decision denying parole was routine.

Appellant argues that he is permanently denied parole eligibility, even though Appellant appeared again before the Parole Board for parole consideration in 2024, and will again be considered for parole two years after that, per S.C. Code 24-21-650. "Upon a negative determination of parole, prisoners in confinement for a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60 must have their cases reviewed every two years for the purpose of a determination of parole."

Appellant therefore has not been permanently denied parole. It follows, then, that the Board's denial of parole was routine. Consequently, the ALC had no other choice but to dismiss the appeal as, pursuant to § 1-23-600(D), the ALC shall not hear an appeal from a parole-eligible inmate.

Appellant grossly distorts the holding of *Cooper* in his argument that parole denials based on factors set at the time of the offense in the past that cannot be changed are arbitrary and capricious and therefore not a routine denial of parole. Appellant's Brief, p. 10. The Supreme Court was simply acknowledging Cooper's position, but the Court did not adopt that argument. In fact, the Court stated that the stated reasons for rejection being the nature and seriousness of the offense, indication of violence, and use of a deadly weapon were "sufficient to deny parole in the Board's discretion, if the Board's decision evinced consideration of section 24-21-640 and its own criteria." *Cooper*, 377 S.C. at 499 n. 5, 661 S.E.2d at 111 n. 5.

The true holding of *Cooper* is that if the Board fails to consider the criteria for parole consideration required by statute, it adversely affects an inmate's right to parole consideration. The opinion then provided a remedy for such a due process violation. "We emphasize that ... if [the

Parole Board] clearly states in its order denying parole that it considered the factors outlined in section 24-21-640 and the fifteen factors published in its parole form... the decision will constitute a routine denial of parole and the ALC would have limited authority to review the decision to determine whether the Board followed proper procedure.” *Cooper*, 377 S.C. at 500, 661 S.E.2d at 112.⁵

Appellant also mischaracterizes the role the Administrative Procedures Act (APA) plays in appeals arising from routine denials of parole. He cites to S.C. Code S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5)(f) and *Cooper*’s mention of the APA in his argument that the Administrative Law Court has the authority to reverse the decision of an agency after a contested case hearing if it determines it to be arbitrary or capricious. However, the General Assembly *expressly removed this authority* as it relates to parole denials after the *Cooper* opinion when it amended Section 1-23-600(D) to include the language that an administrative law judge may not hear an appeal of a routine denial of parole.

Importantly, the ALC has only the authority conferred upon it by statute. The General Assembly created the ALC as both an agency and a court of record within the executive branch. S.C. Code S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-500 (Supp. 2022). “The General Assembly has the authority to limit the subject matter jurisdiction of a court it has created; therefore, it can prescribe the parameters of the ALC’s powers.” *Amisub of S.C., Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’tl. Control*, 403 S.C. 576, 585, 743 S.E. 2d 786, 791 (2013). The General Assembly did just that when it added the language to Section 1-23-600(D) specifically removing jurisdiction over routine denials of parole from administrative law court judges.

⁵ Respondent will address Appellant’s additional arguments regarding *Cooper* in Part II.

Consequently, Appellant's assertions that the Board's routine denials of parole are contested case hearings that fall under the APA and reversible if the administrative law judge disagrees with the Board's decision is, essentially, wishful thinking. His argument is based on an incorrect belief that he is deserving of parole and that due process requires his release to parole, when the law of South Carolina definitively states that no inmate has a right to parole. "Parole is a privilege, not a right," *Cooper*, 377 S.C. at 496, 661 S.E.2d at 110 (Citing *Sullivan v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 355 S.C. 437, 443 n. 4, 586 S.E.2d 124 127 n.4 (2003)).

Respondent therefore respectfully requests this Court uphold the ALC's dismissal of the appeal, finding that it arose from a routine denial of parole and therefore it lacked jurisdiction to hear anything further than whether the Board followed proper procedure.

II. The Board properly followed the requirement of *Cooper* when it clearly stated it had carefully considered the requisite factors of parole consideration.

Appellant argues that the Board's statement that it carefully considered the requisite factors of parole consideration⁶ in its letter of denial was not sufficient under the requirements of *Cooper*. He self-servingly asserts that he should have been granted parole, and therefore because the Parole Board denied him it must mean that it did not carefully consider the requisite factors.

Respondent urges this Court to reject Appellant's attempt to undercut the clear instructions of the Supreme Court in *Cooper*. By stating that he doesn't believe the Board when it says that it carefully considered the requisite factors before rendering its decision, Appellant seeks to turn parole into a presumptive right. He argues that the only way the Board could have denied parole

⁶ Outlined in S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-640 and the fifteen criteria for parole consideration published in Form 1212, as well as the criminogenic risk-needs assessment mandated in S.C. Code Section 24-21-10(b). Respondent will hereinafter refer to these elements of parole consideration criteria as the "requisite factors."

is that they didn't consider the factors at all, and that the burden is on the Board to somehow *show* that they did consider the requisite factors because saying they did is insufficient – despite that is exactly what the holding of *Cooper* and subsequently in *Compton v. S.C. Dep't of Prob., Parole and Pardon Servs.*, 385 S.C. 476, 684 S.E.2d 175 (2009). “We emphasized that ... if the Parole Board clearly states in its order denying parole that it considered the factors outlined in section 24–21–640 and the fifteen factors published in Form 1212, (R.p.11) and that if the Parole Board complies with this procedure, the decision will constitute a routine denial of parole and the ALC will have limited authority to review the decision.” *Id.*, 385 S.C. at 479, 684 S.E.2d at 177.

Yet, to Appellant, this still is not enough. He demands more, offering up paranoia and rhetoric that the Board is not to be trusted. Respondent submits that Appellant is arguing against precedent, demanding that this Court overturn the holdings of *Cooper* and *Compton*. The Supreme Court explicitly stated in *Cooper* (and reiterated in *Compton*) that when the Board states in its letter of denial that it carefully considered the requisite factors of parole consideration, its denial of parole was routine.

Appellant decries these holdings, arguing essentially that he is such a good and model inmate and so deserving of parole that the only possible explanation of his parole denial is that each Board member refused to consider those good qualities at all when they denied him parole. Therefore, he essentially accuses, the Board members lied when they stated that they did carefully consider the requisite factors (R.p.81-p.82), and also *violated their oaths of office*. (R.p.83-p.88). In the alternative, Appellant argues that the burden on showing whether the Board considered the requisite criteria can shift and become higher if the inmate simply argues that the statement by the Board that abides by *Cooper* and *Compton* is not enough.

Under no circumstances should these arguments be given serious weight. Any remand based on these positions with instructions to grant parole would supplant the Board with the appellate courts as the final authority over parole decisions, overruling well-established South Carolina law and precedent. Furthermore, a remand requiring the Board to essentially meet a higher burden of proving that its members read and carefully considered the requisite factors of parole consideration would not be in line with the clear holdings of *Cooper* and *Compton*. To that end, this Court had recently, albeit reluctantly, affirmed a similar argument in *Buchanan v. S.C. Dept. of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services*, 442 S.C. 393, 899 S.E.2d 600 (Ct. App. 2023) (cert. denied, April 16, 2024). In that opinion, this Court called upon the Legislature to “review and/or revise the parole system to assure the factors of youth are a part of considering parole in these cases rather than permitting the seemingly perfunctory⁷ review now standardly given,” noting that it is the “Legislature’s decision, not ours.” *Id.* at 407, 899 S.E.2d at 608. More than just the factors of youth, Appellant argues all the requisite factors of parole consideration were not considered, despite the Board’s statement that they were which is sufficient under *Cooper* and *Compton*. Respondent agrees with this Court’s opinion in *Buchanan* that the Legislature is the appropriate body to examine the Department’s internal procedures and make any changes to the parole system it may deem necessary.

Respondent urges this Court to follow the holdings of *Cooper* and *Compton* and leave any changes to the process in the capable hands of the Legislature. The ALC properly determined that

⁷ Respondent would submit that the limited Record in routine denials of parole may make the review of each inmate’s record *appear* perfunctory, but that is not the case. Board members are provided the parole materials on each inmate two weeks before the parole hearing so that they may have ample time to review each candidate for parole and so that the actual hearings are run efficiently. The private reading and internal deliberations conducted by each Board member are something that cannot be shown or reflected in the Record.

the Board followed Cooper and dismissed the appeal. This is correct, even though Appellant decries the Board's statement as "boilerplate," as if the term "boilerplate" meant, "false." The term "boilerplate," according to Black's Law Dictionary 7th Ed., means, "1. Ready-made or all-purpose language that will fit in a variety of documents. 2. Fixed or standardized contractual language that the proposing party views as relatively non-negotiable." Clearly, "boilerplate" does not mean false or fraudulent. Instead, the language of the letter of denial is simply repeated because it applies to all inmates who were considered for parole, and is supported by the processes in place by the Department – stating that the inmate received the required careful consideration for parole yet was still denied. The ALC's dismissal of the appeal should be affirmed.'

III. The Board did not violate Appellant's rights when it denied him parole release.

Appellant claims the Board denied him parole as retaliation for his prior appeals, arguing that in doing so he was denied due process and his First Amendment rights were violated.

Initially, Respondent would submit that this argument is rife with paranoia and entitlement, reading actual malice into a body that is by its very nature vested with the authority of making parole release decisions. The "proof" of such malice that Appellant has is essentially that the Board members changed their votes along with his own opinion of his entitlement to parole.⁸

Respondent respectfully suggests that this Court consider Appellant's inherent bias: he wants to receive parole, and firmly believes that he should receive it. He and his supporters have presented what they feel is a case that fully supports the decision to award him parole. He likely feels that he is entitled to parole, and views his denial through that lens. If the Board denied him

⁸ It should be noted that during Appellant's subsequent hearing on April 24, 2024, two members of the Board voted in favor of parole and three voted against. One member was absent.

parole despite all his good qualities and his purported rehabilitation, then the only conclusion he makes is that the Board must be actively malicious and retributive.

This claim is absurd and, Respondent would submit, grossly inappropriate. It belies a frequent misconception among inmates and their ardent supporters regarding the very nature of parole. Because the Board has the power to grant parole and thus end one's ongoing imprisonment, many view each denial as the Board adding another year or two to their sentence. This twisting of perspectives can lead to the perception that the Board is vindictively extending incarceration with each denial of parole. Appellant's own Brief seems to show this belief when he talks of the respective length of terms of incarceration of him and his co-defendant. Appellant's Brief, p. 17.

Of course, this is not the case. "Parole is a privilege, not a right." *Sullivan*, 355 S.C. at 443 n. 4, 586 S.E.2d at 127 n.4. "There is no constitutional or inherent right of a convicted person to be conditionally released before the expiration of a valid sentence." *Greenholtz v. Inmates of Nebraska Penal and Correctional Complex*, 442 U.S. 1, 7 (1979). South Carolina's Code of Laws speaks of parole as a "lessening of the rigors of [an inmate's] imprisonment." Section 24-21-640, but it does not guarantee eventual release. Only if the Board is satisfied may the inmate be paroled, meaning that the Board has an inherent right to decline to grant parole. In other words, the Board has the absolute power to say no.

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